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A HOME FOR EVERYONE
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SAFE, SECURE AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
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Our Purpose
To improve people’s lives  

with safe and secure housing.

Our Vision
A home for everyone.

Our Mission
To provide affordable housing 

options for Western Australians  
on low to moderate incomes.

SOLUTIONS FOCUSED

We work together to find  
solutions that benefit  

our people and customers.

CARING

We care for others and  
display empathy, fairness  

and respect.

HONEST

We act with integrity  
and own our decisions.

FOUNDATION HOUSING • ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

Our Values

WHO IS FOUNDATION HOUSING?
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY

We acknowledge the First Australians as the Traditional Custodians of the lands on which we 
operate. In particular, we acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of country where each of 
our offices are located including the Whadjuk Noongar people of Perth, the Yawuru people of 
Broome and the Kariyarra people of Port Hedland. We recognise their continuing connection 
to land, waters and community. We pay our respects to them, their cultures and to Elders past, 
present and emerging, in the spirit of reconciliation.
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I would firstly like to thank our valued staff, 
stakeholders and partners for their continued support 
over the past year which again has been challenging, 
not least due to the health, personal and economic 
effects stemming from the Covid-19 pandemic. 

2020 / 2021 has included many achievements and 
I would like to acknowledge our continued focus on 
building capacity to provide affordable housing for 
West Australians on low incomes.

The CEO and Executive Team continue to provide 
exceptional leadership and direction to a committed 
and engaged workforce who, on a daily basis, tend to 
the needs of our residents and ensure they feel safe 
and secure. This is especially important as we endure 
the challenges of the pandemic. As with the previous 
year, Foundation Housing has responded resiliently, 
with minimal impact on the financial performance and 
has a culture of responsiveness in regard to lockdowns, 
legislative changes and resident needs.

The organisation continues to meet its strategic 
objectives around creating outcomes, growth and 
business excellence.

During the year, Foundation Housing developed a 
‘Positive Tenancies Framework’ to create a shared 
understanding of what constitutes a positive tenancy, 
a framework to guide activities towards this objective 
and a reference point for consistent decision making.

The objective to Leverage Growth was met through 
the establishment of ‘Elevate by Foundation Housing’, 

which included the acquisition of 98 affordable 
properties across metropolitan Perth using low-cost 
funding available via the National Housing Finance and 
Investment Corporation. Foundation Housing is leasing 
these centrally located homes, with proximity to public 
transport, employment hubs and retail precincts to 
essential workers. The model benefited commercially 
through wholesale transactions and by leveraging the 
organisation’s not-for-profit status. As a result of this 
and other initiatives, our housing portfolio increased  
by 4.5% to over 2300 units of accommodation. 

Foundation Housing is also actively progressing its 
first Specialist Disability Accommodation Project. 
Development commenced in June 2021 on two 
purpose-built properties in Bassendean. Our partner 
ACTIV will provide care support to six National 
Disability Insurance Scheme approved tenants.

Foundation Housing continues to support various 
programs across the state, including Street to 
Home and the Hedland Aboriginal Home Ownership 
Program, and directly funds a Tenant Support 
and Community Engagement team to service 
all Foundation Housing tenancies. In addition, an 
Operating Agreement was established with Summer 
Housing to manage their WA portfolio of independent 
housing for people living with a disability.

THE ORGANISATION CONTINUES TO MEET ITS 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AROUND CREATING 
OUTCOMES, GROWTH AND BUSINESS EXCELLENCE.

IT GIVES ME GREAT PLEASURE ONCE AGAIN TO REFLECT A LITTLE ON  
THE YEAR THAT HAS PASSED AND PROVIDE SOME INSIGHT INTO THE FUTURE. 

REPORT FROM THE  
CHAIR OF THE BOARD 
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In March 2020, Foundation Housing launched its 
inaugural Tenant Scholarship Program. The program’s 
purpose is to build the capacity of tenants by providing 
opportunities and financial assistance to access further 
education and development. Three scholarships were 
awarded in FY21, based on applicant’s educational and 
employment goals and commitment to study.

In turning to the performance of the Board and 
Committee Advisors, I am very appreciative of the 
support received as Chair from my colleagues, plus the 
support provided to Management during the year. The 
Board is increasingly active in undertaking site visits 
and the March meeting was held in Broome where we 
manage 120 units of accommodation. The Tenancy 
Services and Engagement Committee met in Port 
Hedland in July. Further site visits are planned next 
year along with the continued adoption of meeting 
virtually periodically. 

Sadly, the Board will be losing a valued member, 
Darren Cooper, who will resign from the Board 
in November 2021 to take up the role as Chair of 
Development WA. As the Deputy Chair and member 
of the Development and Assets Committee, Darren 
has been instrumental in driving the organisation to 
grow the housing portfolio in a sustainable manner 
and with due governance and commercial focus – all 
for the benefit of our residents. On behalf of the Board 
and Foundation Housing, thank you Darren for your 
valued support over the last four years. We wish you 

all the success at Development WA and know you will 
continue to support the community housing sector.

Looking forward, Foundation Housing is well placed 
to meet its growth aspirations and will continue 
to identify suitable development and acquisition 
opportunities. The organisation remains committed 
to supporting and sustaining positive tenancies and 
investing in staff and systems to achieve a productive, 
efficient and high performing work environment.

David Ligovich 
Chair, Board of Directors
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deliver specialist disability accommodation. We also 
have a Development Application underway for a 
130-apartment complex only five kilometres from the 
Perth CBD. The business is continuing negotiations 
with institutional investors to establish phase 2 of 
Elevate and deliver more affordable housing into WA. 

The care we provide for our tenants continues to 
excel. The collaborative approach and focus on positive 
tenancies taken by our management teams, working 
alongside our Tenant Support and Street to Home 
teams, is delivering excellent outcomes for those who 
need assistance to sustain their tenancies. 

The implementation of our Community Engagement 
Strategy has greatly advanced in the past 12 months. 
A calendar of activities and engagement opportunities 
like walking groups and morning teas have been 
activated across our lodges and housing complexes, 
with strong support from our staff for these initiatives. 
We’re also well progressed with the next phase 
of our Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), 
demonstrating our commitment to respecting and 
acknowledging the culture of the traditional owners 
and their land upon which we operate.

As the largest state-based community housing 
provider in WA, our advocacy and policy setting at both 
state and national level has grown. Key involvements 

Two years ago, we embarked on a new strategic plan 
with the key priority to simplify our business through 
managing and sustaining positive tenancies and 
growing our housing supplies to support those in need 
through innovative funding models. Over the past 12 
months, we have seen this plan come to fruition, with 
new housing supply, improved customer engagement 
and strong financial results.

In early 2021, we launched ‘Elevate by Foundation 
Housing’ an innovative affordable housing program 
that leverages NHFIC finance for the wholesale 
acquisition of new housing stock. Offering affordable 
rents for essential workers, the Elevate model 
mitigates development risk, leverages our charitable 
status and offers well located accommodation with 
quality amenities, all at 25% under market rent. 
Delivering 98 units of new accommodation Elevate 
achieved a capital equity uplift of circa 30% on 
settlement, creating an asset base for future growth. 
The use of this model by Foundation Housing was an 
Australian-first, and we are proud to have identified 
new and viable solutions to increase much-needed 
housing stock for low-income communities.

The business is well progressed with due diligence 
on two new housing portfolios, and a number of 
key redevelopment sites are being considered to 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
OFFICER REPORT

DURING A TESTING 12 MONTHS FOR OUR COMMUNITY THAT HAS SEEN GROWING 
NUMBERS OF PEOPLE IN NEED OF HOUSING SUPPORT, WE’VE SEEN SOME EXCITING 
AND SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AT FOUNDATION HOUSING.



I would also like to thank the Board, sub-committees, 
Directors and our Chair, David Ligovich, for their 
ongoing support, stewardship and governance. I would 
also like to thank our former Development Manager 
Cade Taylor for his significant contribution during 
his time with us and to recognise Darren Cooper for 
his wisdom, leadership and unrelenting pursuit of 
excellence during his time on the Board as Vice-Chair 
and on the Development Committee.

The year ahead looks promising, and with the support 
of our Board and staff, we are excited to continue 
Foundation Housing’s legacy of being there for our 
tenants and actively increasing housing supply to 
support those most in need.

Chris Smith 
Chief Executive Officer

over the past year included participating in a NHFIC 
working group on developing new financing products, 
input into the Federal Government’s national housing 
strategy and budget priorities and counsel to various 
state government agencies on opportunities for the 
delivery of new housing.

The business has delivered a strong financial result this 
year, achieved through good management and our new 
investments. Continued balance sheet growth is critical 
to our ability to leverage finance that supports our core 
business. With our surplus capital position and strong 
cash earnings, we are positioned to contemplate 
new development opportunities in a sustainable and 
prudent manner.

Once again, our people have gone above and beyond 
to support our tenants and communities when they’ve 
needed us most. The past year has again demonstrated 
the resilience of our people. Supported by our evolved 
strategy and company values that strongly resonate 
with staff, Foundation Housing recorded its lowest 
turnover numbers, with people reporting a strong 
sense of pride in working for Foundation Housing and 
a high employee engagement rating of 85%. I would 
like to thank all our staff for the care, empathy and 
commitment they show every day. 

AS THE LARGEST STATE-BASED COMMUNITY 
HOUSING PROVIDER IN WA, OUR ADVOCACY AND 
POLICY SETTING AT BOTH STATE AND NATIONAL 
LEVEL HAS GROWN. 

FOUNDATION HOUSING • ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 •5
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OUR HOUSING SNAPSHOT

3255  
PEOPLE  
HOUSED

37  
LANGUAGES  
OTHER THAN 

ENGLISH 

446  
ABORIGINAL &  

TORRES STRAIT 
ISLANDER TENANTS

 

476  
TENANTS  

LIVING WITH  
DISABILITY 

 KIMBERLEY  
 Homes Managed 120
 

 PERTH METRO AREA 
 Homes Managed 2032  

 Tenancies 1171
 Lodging Rooms 387
 Foyer Oxford 98
 Managed Properties 278
 Elevate Housing 98

 MANDURAH 
 Homes Managed 105

 PILBARA 
 Homes Managed 129 
 

2386 HOMES MANAGED ACROSS 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
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OUR PEOPLE SNAPSHOT

STAFF STATISTICS

Years of Service

< 1 Year 17
< 3 Years 14
< 5 Years 14 
< 8 Years 13
< 10 Years 8 
10+ Years 9

Note: Frontline staff are all employees under the operations department – support staff is the rest 
of the organisation (i.e. finance, reception, property services, people & culture)

53 Full-Time 18 Part-Time

2 Casual 2 Maternity Leave

Number of Staff: 75
Average Age: 47

60 Females 15 Males

Gender

55 Frontline 20  Support

Staff Roles
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OUR STRATEGY  
FOR FY20/21

Strategic Plan

The work of Foundation Housing is designed to 
support the WA Government’s Housing Strategy  
2020-2030.

The Government has currently invested a collective 
$2.1 billion in social and affordable housing initiatives 
across a number of projects and strategies, going 
forward over several years.

In July 2020, we launched our 3-year strategic plan 
that aims to sustainably and independently increase 
social and affordable housing stock available in the 
community.

This new strategy has been critical to the successes we 
have enjoyed over the past year, helping us house more 
than 3,200 people during a Covid-impacted time, 
launching our highly successful and innovative Elevate 
program and expanding our services to reach new 
areas of the WA community.

The strategy has two key focus areas – Positive 
Outcomes and Growth, built on a pillar of Business 
Excellence and supported by our values of being 
Solutions Focused, Caring and Honest. 

LEVERAGE  
GROWTH

Increase portfolio  
size and secure  

increased revenue from  
non-government sources

MANAGE AND SUSTAIN 
POSITIVE TENANCIES

Support tenants  
to maintain their  

tenancies and  
reduce negative exits

BUSINESS  
EXCELLENCE

Develop a productive,  
efficient and high  
performing work  

environment for all staff

LI
N

K 
TO

 V
AL

U
E

SOLUTIONS FOCUSED

We work together to find  
solutions that benefit  

our people and customers.

CARING

We care for others and  
display empathy, fairness  

and respect.

HONEST

We act with integrity  
and own our decisions.



LEVERAGE GROWTH
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LEVERAGING GROWTH TO  
HELP MORE PEOPLE IN NEED

Our aim is to leverage growth in a number of ways.  
We want to increase the services that we provide to 
the community, reach more of the community, and 
do this from a strong financial foundation. To do that 
we are working to increase the size of our portfolio 
and secure increased revenue from non-government 
sources, so we can sustainably grow our operations 
and support more people in the community.

In FY20/21, we successfully grew our services.  
Our housing portfolio increased by 4.5% and with 
new partnerships, we extended our services to new 
sections of the community and in regional areas and 
enhanced our tenancy, property management and 
property development services.

THERE IS CURRENTLY A CRISIS IN TERMS  
OF BOTH SOCIAL AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
IN THE WA COMMUNITY.

During FY20/21, the social housing waitlist increased 
to almost 17,000 while rising rents and housing 
shortages created new issues for affordable housing, 
impacting a previously untouched sector of the 
community who, despite having stable employment, 
experienced rental stress.

Foundation Housing’s new strategic plan, released in 
July 2020, recognises this challenge and as a result, 
includes leveraging growth as a key strategic objective 
until 2023.
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WE LEVERAGED GROWTH THROUGH  
THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES:

By creating new affordable homes for low-to-
moderate income essential workers, we were able 
to achieve several growth outcomes. Firstly it was an 
expansion of our services to those needing affordable 
homes as well as social housing. It met an immediate 
community need, with rental shortages creating an 
increase in rental stress – where people spend more 
than 30% of their income on rent. The rental return on 
the properties would provide an income and over time 
an asset against which Foundation Housing can use 
to fund similar new housing projects. By using NHFIC 
funding, Elevate was also established without any 
government contribution, creating new housing stock 
options in WA at no cost to the public.

Elevate – an innovative  
new affordable housing model
In order to grow our services, we need to be able 
to provide more homes. To do this, we successfully 
adopted an Australian-first funding model to create 
new affordable housing through the Elevate program.

In early 2021, we secured $45million in funding 
from the National Housing Finance and Investment 
Corporation (NHFIC) which allowed us to purchase  
98 brand new, green-star rated homes from new 
property developments across metropolitan Perth.  
At settlement, the value of the properties was 
estimated at $55 million, resulting in $10 million in 
equity when settled.

These properties, located in desirable suburbs and 
close to public transport and amenities including 
hospitals, schools and universities, were earmarked 
to be rented to income-assessed essential workers, 
across Healthcare, Emergency Services, Education, 
Childcare, Not-for-profit, Retail, Transportation and 
Local Government.



The process of identifying, buying, settling the 
properties and getting tenants quickly assessed and 
into their new homes, provided a new challenge for the 
Foundation Housing team, who responded positively, 
and demonstrated strong team work and a focus on 
achieving targets at all stages of the process. 

As well as being an essential worker, applicants were 
considered against criteria including their income level 
and employment location, so tenants could be placed 
in secure homes close to their work.

From opening expressions of interest in February 2021 
we received more than 3000 applications for the 98 
homes available. Staff ensured swift communication 
with eligible applicants, and that the process of 
identifying and inspecting the right home was made 
easy and respectful.

Within five weeks of the first property settlement, all 
of the new homes were allocated. The tenants pay no 
more than 30% of their household income in rent and 
have secure and high-quality homes.

The income is also helping to fund 12 new homes for 
social housing, the first to be added to the State’s 
housing stock that are not government funded.

In 25 years, we estimate this initial phase of Elevate  
will have assets worth $60 million that can be used to 
fund further housing projects for those in need.

Elevate has completely changed the concept 
of affordable housing in WA, has successfully 
demonstrated the viability of a new funding model, 
grown the housing stock in WA and strengthened 
Foundation Housing’s financial sustainability.

ELEVATE PORTFOLIO

PROPERTY BREAKDOWN

98 PROPERTIES

87 Apartments 
34 x 1 bed, 1 bath
20 x 2 bed, 1 bath
33 x 2 bed, 2 bath

10 Townhouses
6 x 3 bed, 2 bath
4 x 2 bed, 2 bath

1 Duplex
1 x 3 bed, 2 bath

Average rental rate  
$354/week

Average household  
income $81.5k

THE TENANTS PAY NO MORE THAN 
30% OF THEIR HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
IN RENT AND HAVE SECURE AND 
HIGH-QUALITY HOMES.
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67%

9%

24%

Single Couple Family

 

48%
34%

11%
1% 2%4%

Under 20 20-30 31-40

41-50 51-60 60+

57%

43%

Female Male

45-55 55-65 65-75

75-85 85-95 95+

21%
9%

10%

28%

33%
15%

AGE GROUPS

ELEVATE TENANCY DEMOGRAPHICS

INCOME ($000s)
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Elevate case study
There’s no reason emergency services worker Jake 
shouldn’t be able to find a rental in Perth – he has a stable, 
full-time job and a reasonable income. 

However the 24-year-old kept getting knocked back by 
every landlord and outbid by other prospective tenants with 
deeper pockets in a market where two-bedroom properties 
were being leased for up to $600 a week.

“I didn’t know what I could do to even have a fighting 
chance,” Mr Mackay said.

“I visited about four or five rentals and I wasn’t even a 
consideration because people were walking through the 
door and saying ‘can we offer more’.”

Jake heard about Foundation Housing’s Elevate program, 
offering rent-controlled leases in high quality properties 
to essential workers. As an emergency worker, Jake was 
eligible for the program and successfully applied. 

He moved into his new apartment in Subiaco at the Indigo 
Rise complex, paying just under $370 a week in rent in 
March 2020. 

“People should keep a keen eye on programs like this 
because it makes things way easier for the average Joe,”  
he said.

THERE’S NO REASON EMERGENCY 
SERVICES WORKER JAKE 
SHOULDN’T BE ABLE TO FIND 
A RENTAL IN PERTH – HE HAS A 
STABLE, FULL-TIME JOB AND A 
REASONABLE INCOME.
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NEW PARTNERSHIP TO SUPPORT  
THOSE WITH DISABILITIES

As part of our strategy to leverage growth, in FY20/21 Foundation Housing established two new partnerships to 
expand its services to those in the community with disabilities. As well as supporting new parts of the communities 
in need, these projects aligned with our objectives to create a Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) 
development pipeline and grow our tenancy and property management services.

The homes include provisions for hoists and rails, and 
uninterrupted power supply and smart wiring to enable 
automated control of blinds, heating, lighting, gates 
and communications. 

Double-glazed windows, a rainwater tank, solar panels 
and battery back-up will also contribute to the homes’ 
seven-star environmental rating. Six tenants are 
expected to move into their new homes in 2022. 

ACTIV 
In the first half of FY20/21, Foundation Housing signed 
a partnership with WA disability care provider Activ to 
develop new homes for those with disabilities.

Suitable, accessible and affordable homes for those 
living with a disability continues to be a significant 
issue. Under our agreement with Activ, Foundation 
Housing has begun developing two four-bedroom SDA 
homes in Bassendean. 

Foundation Housing worked closely with Activ and 
their clients on the designs for these homes to ensure 
they will meet the specialist needs of those who will 
live there.

Foundation Housing and ACTIV 
have come together to create 
homes that provide the right 
support for those who need it. I am 
looking forward to the completion 
of the project and what the 
future will bring for the specialist 
disability accomodation space.

Hon. John Carey MLA, Minister for 
Housing and Local Government  
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Our two organisations share common values and a 
belief that supported accommodation does not have 
to mean inferior. As well as having been designed to 
Platinum level certification under ‘Liveable Housing 
Design Guidelines’ and meet ‘High Physical Support’ 
or ‘Fully Accessible’ design requirements under the 
NDIS, the beautifully presented apartments are well 
located, fitted out to a high standard and central to all 
the key community and medical amenities that make 
independent living possible.

Summer Housing 
With our significant experience in tenancy and 
property management, and desire to grow our services 
in the disability space, Foundation Housing has been 
engaged by Summer Housing, a Melbourne based not-
for-profit that specialises in the provision of disability 
accommodation.

Foundation Housing manages Summer Housing’s 10 
brand new and customised apartments at ArtHouse, in 
the heart of Joondalup, to support independent living 
for those with disabilities. 

Foundation Housing is undertaking a full suite of 
tenancy and property management services for 
the Summer Housing apartments. The first tenant 
successfully moved into their new home in June 2021. 

It’s been really nice living here so far. 
Everyone has been very helpful.

Dave, Summer Housing tenant

FOUNDATION HOUSING MANAGES SUMMER 
HOUSING’S 10 BRAND NEW AND CUSTOMISED 
APARTMENTS AT ARTHOUSE, IN THE HEART OF 
JOONDALUP, TO SUPPORT INDEPENDENT LIVING 
FOR THOSE WITH DISABILITIES. 
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INDIGENOUS AND  
REGIONAL SERVICES

IN THE NORTH-WEST OF WA WHERE FOUNDATION 
HOUSING HAS TWO OFFICES, HOMELESS RATES ARE  
AS AS HIGH AS 6% IN THE KIMBERLEY WITH NEARLY 
100% OF THAT NUMBER INDIGENOUS.

During FY20/21, Foundation Housing became involved in 
two new projects to expand the services and support it is 
offering to Indigenous people in housing need, with a focus 
on the Kimberley and Pilbara.

This also aligned with our strategic plan to grow our  
regional programs and our housing services.
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Hedland Aboriginal Home 
Ownership Program  
Home ownership is one way to create more housing 
security, an opportunity many Indigenous Australians 
miss out on.

In FY20/21, the Department of Communities provided 
funding for 40 Aboriginal families on low-to-moderate 
incomes to apply for home ownership through the 
Hedland Aboriginal Home Ownership Program.

The applicants are provided with an affordable rental 
option and education and support to move towards 
independent home ownership at a pace that works 
for them.

Foundation Housing was engaged to provide the 
tenancy and property management services for 
the program participants as part of this transitional 
program.

Bloodwood Tree Association Inc – a well-established 
and highly respected Hedland service provider – is 
Foundation Housing’s program partner and provides 
support around wellbeing, employment opportunities 
and financial independence, as well as their children’s 
engagement with school. 

Given the demand for secure and affordable housing 
in this region, Foundation Housing is pleased to be 
involved in this program, creating new opportunities 
for sustainable home ownership in the Pilbara, and in 
turn effecting inter-generational change.

Foyer Broome
Many young indigenous people in the Kimberley are 
drawn to Broome for work, education and social 
opportunities.

However, a lack of culturally appropriate and affordable 
housing in Broome, often puts these young people at 
risk of experiencing homelessness.

In response to a call for Expressions of Interest from 
the North West Aboriginal Housing Fund (NWAHF), 
Foundation Housing formed a consortium partnership 
with Anglicare WA and Nirrumbuk Aboriginal 
Corporation to develop a business case for a Foyer  
to better support the needs of young Indigenous 
people who come to Broome for work or study, and 
reduce their risk of homelessness. 

The Foyer model provides an integrated housing, 
support and learning setting for young people between 
16 and 24 years who are at risk of homelessness. It 
is a worldwide recognised model and has worked 
successfully in Perth where Foundation Housing and 
Anglicare WA provide housing and support at Foyer 
Oxford in Leederville. 

With a focus on co-design, the Foyer Broome 
consortium convened a design team of local young 
people and community members, along with staff from 
local service providers and Aboriginal corporations, 
to work through the vision, the requirements and 
possibilities.

The Foyer Broome project has been submitted to the 
NWAHF for consideration and work will continue in 
FY21/22, with the ultimate aim of securing funding and 
seeing the regional Foyer successfully delivered. 
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INDUSTRY AND SECTOR  
ENGAGEMENT AND INFLUENCE

AUSTRALIAN HOUSING AND URBAN RESEARCH 
INSTITUTE (AHURI)

We participated and provided support to a number 
of AHURI initiatives during FY20/21. The first was 
a report on responding to the pandemic and how 
building homes can rebuild Australia, alongside Curtin 
University, the University of Sydney and the University 
of Adelaide.

We also contributed to the AHURI investigative panel 
on Urban Regulation and Diverse Housing Supply, 
and what the industry needs to do moving forward to 
increase diversity in housing supply.

The third piece was a national report on the supply of 
social and affordable housing, with the report expected 
in the new financial year.

Lastly, we contributed to the AHURI report: Towards 
an Australian social housing best practice asset 
management framework, which will provide a useful 
benchmark for Foundation Housing to evaluate future 
development opportunities. 

SHELTER WA

Foundation Housing took part in numerous Shelter 
WA community housing design workshops, looking at 
how identified government land can be developed into 
affordable and social housing.

Expanding our industry influence
While Foundation Housing is the largest State-based 
community housing provider in WA, it does not work 
alone and can only achieve its strategic objectives 
working alongside a range of partners. 

Recognising that, in FY20/21 we have worked to 
increase our partnerships and influence, with the 
ultimate goal of increasing housing stock supply and 
services to those in need.

We were involved in a number of a state and national 
level research programs, activities and policy making 
to support and influence decisions to create positive 
and sustainable outcomes in the social and affordable 
sector. These involvements include:

SUSTAINABLE BUILT ENVIRONMENT NATIONAL 
RESEARCH CENTRE PROJECT

Foundation Housing participated in developing a 
liveability framework for social and affordable housing 
in high density areas. Our Bennett St property in East 
Perth was used as a case study in the project. The 
outcome has been a national liveability framework 
checklist for new social housing developments 
that covers considerations of location and place, 
community, accessibility, infrastructure, economic 
systems, property diversity, asset management and 
whole of life. Foundation Housing will be able to use 
this framework when considering its own future 
development opportunities.
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INFRASTRUCTURE WA

Foundation Housing had one-on-one sessions with 
Infrastructure WA to provide input into their report 
on affordable and social housing, leading to the report 
making the strong recommendation that Community 
Housing Agreements (to which community housing 
providers in WA are signatories) need to be reviewed 
to enable more diversity and reduce the limits on new 
project funding.

GOVERNMENT

State Government 

Frequent meetings were held with the Minister for 
Housing to provide input on delivering social housing 
objectives, and participation in Shelter WA workshops 
to provide Budget inputs. 

Federal Government

Foundation Housing hosted Minister for Housing and 
Assistant Treasurer Michael Sukkar MP at one of our 
Elevate properties, where he met with Board members 
and management to discuss the Elevate model and the 
successful use of NHFIC funding.

We also took part in a working group with the 
Opposition Federal Housing Minister into the potential 
workings of Labor’s proposed $10 billion Housing 
Australia Future Fund and how providers like Foundation 
Housing could deliver on the Fund’s objectives.

Industry

In FY20/21, Foundation Housing CEO Chris Smith 
was appointed a national director to the National 
Community Housing Industry Association (CHIA).

WE HAVE WORKED TO INCREASE OUR 
PARTNERSHIPS AND INFLUENCE, WITH THE 
ULTIMATE GOAL OF INCREASING HOUSING STOCK 
SUPPLY AND SERVICES TO THOSE IN NEED.



MANAGING AND SUSTAINING 
POSITIVE TENANCIES
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IN FY20/21, FOUNDATION HOUSING  
PROVIDED HOUSING FOR MORE THAN 3,700 
WEST AUSTRALIANS ACROSS METROPOLITAN 
AND REGIONAL WA IN A VARIETY OF 
ACCOMMODATION TYPES. 

These tenants found their way to us as they were in 
housing need, and were often experiencing many other 
issues that – without housing – would be more difficult 
to address.

Being supported and having a safe tenancy provides 
security for people, alleviating their concerns about 
housing so they can focus on wellbeing in other 
aspects of their lives, leading to better longer-term 
outcomes. 

One of the key pillars within our new 2020 to 2023 
strategy is to manage and sustain positive tenancies.

During FY20/21, we developed a framework for the 
delivery of this objective and undertook a number of 
new and ongoing initiatives to embed this objective at 
an operational level. 
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positive
TENANCIES

positive
TENANCIES

positive
TENANCIES

A positive tenancies development checklist has also 
been created, to ensure homes built are sustainable, 
affordable, appropriate and safe for tenants. This is 
a whole of organisation approach that is critical to 
achieving positive outcomes for those living in our 
homes. 

The framework puts support for the wellbeing of  
our tenants at the heart of what we do.

It also provides staff with a decision-making 
framework and empowers them to take considered 
action to create positive change in people’s lives.

To ensure we had a strong and thorough foundation to 
deliver positive tenancies, in FY20/21 we developed 
a new framework to guide our actions and processes 
across all aspects of our management activities, assess 
our progress and measure outcomes. 

The new Positive Tenancies framework was launched 
in April 2021. Since then, the focus has been on 
actioning priority projects within this, such as tenancy 
risk assessments, escalation processes, enhanced 
engagement activities, activation of lodges to achieve 
engagement and capacity building and the launch of 
the new Committee of Residents and Tenants (CORT). 

DEVELOPING A POSITIVE  
TENANCIES FRAMEWORK

Positive 
Tenancy 

Framework

Our tenants are offered 
suitable homes, at rent 

levels that are affordable 
and sustainable.

 

We have a positive 
resident-centred culture, 

based upon values of 
inclusion, equity, respect, 

and dignity. 

We offer support to 
residents when health and 
wellbeing may impact their 
ability to sustain a tenancy. 

We maintain our  
properties and work  

alongside residents to 
achieve safe and secure 
tenancies for residents, 

FHL staff and  
the wider  

community. 
 

We connect with our  
tenants and provide  

opportunities for them  
to engage with us, each 
other and their broader 

community. 

Our tenants are offered 
capacity building  

opportunities to help  
maintain their tenancy. 

EMPOWERED

CONNECTED

EQUIPPED

STABLE

SAFE

HEALTHY
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Our Positive Tenancy Goals 
•  Our residents feel safe in their homes, respected, and 

involved in decisions that impact them. 

•  Our residents have opportunities to engage with us, 
each other, and their local community. 

•  Tenancy turnovers remain low, properties are well-
maintained, rent remains affordable and adherence 
to tenancy conditions is high. 

•  Support options are available when needed and 
residents are empowered to accept and engage in 
this support.

The framework prioritises the importance of 
putting our resident and tenants’ needs first. 
It ensures that we approach our work with 
diligence, consistency and respect.

Reyne, Supported Housing Lead

I tell my team that the Positive Tenancies 
Framework is our friend. It’s something we can 
always go to for guidance in our work and in putting 
our tenants’ best interests first. It is something that 
should be ingrained in all of our work, every day.

Alison, Community Services Manager

Development Checklist
FROM A DEVELOPMENT PERSPECTIVE,  
A POSITIVE TENANCY IS ONE WHERE  
TENANTS HAVE:

• Choice over the design, layout and use of their home.

•  Optimum access to local amenity and transport 
options.

•  Easy access to employment and education 
opportunities.

•  Involvement in decisions regarding the design, layout, 
location and specification of new homes. 

• Opportunity to modify homes as their needs change. 

positive
TENANCIES

positive
TENANCIES

positive
TENANCIES



ENHANCING TENANT INVOLVEMENT WITH OUR  
NEW COMMITTEE OF RESIDENTS AND TENANTS

As part of the ‘Empowered’ domain of our Positive 
Tenancies framework and ensuring our tenants and 
residents have a voice, in FY20/21 we established the 
Committee of Residents and Tenants (CORT).

In March 2021, a group of volunteer residents and 
tenants came together to develop a terms of reference 
and a code of conduct for the CORT.

The new resident and tenant-led group is open to all 
Foundation Housing tenants and residents and an open 
election process resulted in a new Chair and Vice-Chair 
being elected and 23 general representatives. 

Support will be provided for regional residents to be 
involved, with the CORT to meet every two months 
at Foundation Housing’s Leederville head office with 
Executive level representation, and opportunities 
to engage with the Tenant Services & Engagement 
Committee (a formal Board Committee).

From a positive tenancies strategy perspective, CORT 
provides tenants an opportunity to join a committee, 
empowering them to create their own outcomes and 
influence Foundation Housing’s policies, practices and 
service delivery.

IN MARCH 2021, A GROUP OF VOLUNTEER 
RESIDENTS AND TENANTS CAME TOGETHER  
TO DEVELOP A TERMS OF REFERENCE AND  
A CODE OF CONDUCT FOR THE CORT.
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The CORT allows for feedback 
and provides some means of 
giving a little back.

Michael, Dawesville tenant

Representing his community
Michael is one of the original volunteers for the Tenant 
Involvement Project that helped set up the Terms of Reference 
for the new CORT. He says being involved gives him a sense of 
belonging and commitment.

“It’s an opportunity for me to give back a little to Foundation 
Housing, and I enjoy getting to hear other people’s ideas and 
opinions, and having those discussions. Michael has been a 
tenant at the Foundation Housing Dawesville complex for ten 
years, and is committed to the community he lives in.

“Dawesville is a place of tranquil beauty. Getting on well with my 
nine neighbours is another of the most pleasurable aspects to 
living here.”

He’s a strong advocate for other residents getting involved and 
has nominated for a general position on CORT.

“Anyone would be great to have on the CORT, from First 
Nations tenants to Independent Living representatives and 
certainly the regional Residents. You need to have honesty, 
commitment, respect and a willingness to listen and learn. 

“The CORT allows for feedback and provides some means  
of giving a little back.”
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Foundation Housing’s Street to Home program has been 
in operation for ten years, with the goal of tackling primary 
homelessness and aligns well with our Positive Tenancies 
strategic objective.

Street to Home provides intensive case-managed support to 
residents at Foundation Housing Lodges who have a history 
of rough sleeping or other forms of homelessness. The 
program has three arms – assertive outreach teams; a mobile 
clinical team; and supported housing workers. Foundation 
Housing’s role is with a team of supported housing workers.

At the end of FY20/21, 95% of Street to Home clients had 
sustained their accommodation or had positive exits. 20% 
were supported to access other accommodation.

A program review in March 2021 revealed Street to Home 
created a number of significant benefits including:

•  preventing a return to homelessness, and addressing 
complex, unmet physical and mental health support needs. 

•  improving overall resident wellbeing and preventing 
the need for critical care (and sometimes death) due to 
untreated health issues.

•  reducing strain on Foundation Housing’s directly funded 
Tenant Support program, enabling that to focus on other 
mainstream tenancies.

Street to Home is jointly funded by Commonwealth and 
State Governments on an annual basis. Foundation Housing 
is very pleased that the service has been extended for 
FY21/22 with both core program funding and additional 
brokerage funding. 

FROM THE STREETS TO A HOME

Bonnie’s story
Bonnie found her way to the Street to Home 
service around two years ago, when she became 
a resident at one of Foundation Housing’s lodges. 

With the support of her Foundation Housing 
support services co-ordinator Sue, Bonnie 
achieved all of the goals set out in her action 
plan, with the biggest one being to get 
her kids back after living in prison. When 
released, she worked hard to get custody of 
her children, and in doing so, needed a bigger 
place for them. 

Bonnie has now moved into a new home in 
Bassendean and says she is very happy to be 
creating a positive space for herself and her 
children that is safe and stable.

“The support from Street to Home was great 
and made things a lot easier. I’ve gained 
confidence in myself and it has made it easier  
to get my life back on track. 

“Living where I am now has given me the 
independence to have a fuller and active life.” 
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Supporting people like Adrian
With the new positive tenancies framework, and 
a focus on business excellence, in FY20/21 the 
Foundation Housing team has been able to help more 
people than ever before, including people like Adrian.

Adrian was housed in Bennett Street in March 2021. 
Prior to this, he was living in a friend’s car and on the 
streets, constantly on the move during the Covid-19 
lockdown as the police moved people on. 

Estranged from his family, Adrian was put in touch 
with Foundation Housing through a friend, and says he 
doesn’t know where he would be today without that 
lucky break.

“My friend introduced me to Lisa at Foundation 
Housing. Before that, I was sleeping in my friend’s car. 
The facilities here are great – the rooms, the laundry, 
the courtyard. 

“I would probably still be on the streets if I wasn’t here,” 
he says.

Tenant Story: Liliana 
Before living in Bennett Street, Liliana was living in 
Bassendean and before that, a women’s refuge. She 
moved into the Bennett Street complex when it first 
opened and even cut the ribbon on its opening day. 

“Foundation Housing is probably one of the only 
institutions that has that human touch for those who 
fell between the cracks and couldn’t find their way back. 
Many of us survive because of Foundation Housing and 
I’m one of them. I couldn’t be more grateful.

“It’s not just accommodation. It’s mental health, 
everyday needs, laundry, physical health, food, security. 
All these things are part of what the team do. It’s an 
amazing thing they are doing.”
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Being involved in the community is a strong way to 
improve wellbeing and reduce isolation. As the largest 
provider of lodging accommodation in WA, Foundation 
Housing has a unique opportunity to create positive 
and engaged communities for its lodging residents, 
as well as initiate engagement activities across 
mainstream properties where get togethers may not 
be so common.

Across all of Foundation Housing’s properties, 
in FY20/21 we supported a range of community 
activities to encourage engagement and 
involvement, with many of these led by our tenants.

These community engagement activities included: 

• Oz Harvest 
• Chat and Grills
• Resident Focus Groups
• Bingo Nights
• Bennett Street Walking Group
• Morning and Afternoon Teas
• NAIDOC Week Activities
• Art Sessions
• Community Garden Project 
• Information Sessions
• Metro Lodging Project

SUPPORTING POSITIVE TENANCIES  
THROUGH STRONG COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

A previous client reached out a little time back 
regarding an issue that arose for them. During 
discussions he described his difficulties in reaching 
or approaching people for support, he stated that 
‘the offer of support through Neal (Community 
Engagement) and Street to Home was really 
genuine, which made it so much easier’.

Staff feedback
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Creating an edible garden
After damaged trees were removed at the Foundry 
Road property in Midland, the tenants came up with 
the idea of replacing them with an edible community 
garden and creating an accessible nature space for 
people to enjoy. 

Although COVID slowed progress, the tenants’ 
enthusiasm wasn’t impacted and they co-designed the 
garden on unused land in the carpark with the support 
and permaculture experience of our Community 
Engagement Co-ordinator Neal.

During FY20/21, the tenants worked to establish the 
garden over three stages, including removing grass, 
and adding raised garden beds and plants. 

The new garden, which was officially opened in 
November, will have a white mulberry tree as its  
central focus, edible herbs and native plants.

Healing Country
NAIDOC Week saw celebrations, big feeds and 
artworks at our Hampton Road and Broome lodges 
and Newcastle St property.

The team in Broome celebrated with a Welcome to 
Country by Mary Tallon, some guitar playing, boab 
carving and lots of food. 

At Hampton Road, there was plenty of Kangaroo Stew 
to go around and The Omalas Project joined in by 
serving up delicious fish tacos. 

In Perth, Nyoongar artist Seantelle Walsh produced 
a special art piece at our Newcastle Street property, 
with help from tenants and residents. The mural 
represents the six Nyoongar seasons and was 
unveiled in front of residents, staff and Board 
members, who had the chance to add their own  
finger prints to the final artwork. 
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Each month, at a different property, Foundation 
Housing runs a chat and grill with the residents to have 
a BBQ and meet staff and their neighbours. 

It’s an opportunity for residents to socialise in a 
casual and friendly environment, and enjoy a freshly 
cooked lunch! 

It’s also a chance for Foundation Housing to spend time 
with tenants and check on their wellbeing, identify 
support where it’s needed and find out about other 
activities the residents might be interested in.

The Chat and Grill events are also attended by other 
teams such as Street to Home, housing and lodging, 
and the long-standing program has been a successful 
way to encourage engagement and support positive 
tenancies.

A Calendar of events 
Engagement is an ongoing activity, it’s not always about 
formal activities taking place. There is a calendar of 
activities taking place across our homes every week. 

Focus groups are regularly held with tenants and 
residents around social activities, including at all of our 
Metro lodges.

At Bennett St, a request came from tenants for a 
regular walking group. The residents choose where 
they want to go, and head out with our Community 
Engagement Officer or Lodging Manager, enjoying the 
physical and mental health and social benefits of taking 
a stroll in the fresh air.

There are monthly bingo sessions at some of our 
lodges, which are very popular with at least 30 people 
showing up for each event to socialise with their 
neighbours.
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Oz Harvest
OzHarvest is one of Australia’s leading food rescue 
organisations, collecting food from supermarkets and 
cafes that is still in date but would have been disposed 
of, and delivering it straight to charities in need. 

Foundation Housing has had a partnership with 
OzHarvest for a number of years, and it’s a valuable 
service as it provides vulnerable tenants and residents 
with supermarket quality food every week.

In FY20/21, we expanded the number of lodges, 
with Oz Harvest now delivering food to Bennett St, 
Mt Lawley, Hampton Rd and Wellington St, every 
Wednesday.

Residents volunteer their time to help distribute 
the food, with support provided by our Community 
Engagement team.

SUPPORTING POSITIVE TENANCIES  
THROUGH STRONG PARTNERSHIPS

As well as the activities that Foundation Housing  
is undertaking directly to create positive tenancies, 
we continue to collaborate with key partners 
who contribute to the wellbeing and needs of our 
Foundation Housing residents and tenants.

The Omalas Project are a group of amazing 
individuals that exist off donations to provide 
free gourmet food to our residents. They access 
volunteers from the community and business 
sector to assist in the cooking and distribution  
of their delicious food.

Neal, Foundation Housing  
Community Engagement Co-ordinator
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Homeless Health Care
Homeless Healthcare (HH), is a not-for-profit 
organisation that provides a weekly visiting GP service 
to the residents of our largest lodging house, Hampton 
Road in Fremantle. 

Foundation Housing staff manage booking 
appointments and help to identify residents who would 
benefit from seeing a doctor. All consultations are 
conducted with privacy and dignity in a meeting room 
on-site. 

The service ensures that vulnerable residents who may 
otherwise not seek medical attention have access to a 
consistent and accessible primary healthcare service, 
and makes it easier for residents to get important 
specialist referrals. 

It also supports the evaluation and referral process 
when a resident might need more help or be less 
capable of living independently due to age, mobility, 
dementia etc, and require NDIS assessments 
(via partners like United Way) or aged care 
accommodation. 

The Omalas Project 
The Omalas Project are a not-for-profit food truck that 
distributes food across Perth. 

Throughout FY20/21, every Thursday, the Omalas 
team have delivered meals, from tacos to burgers, to 
the Hampton Road Lodge residents in Fremantle.  
They also joined the NAIDOC week celebrations, 
cooking emu skewers and panko crumbed fish tacos 
for everyone. 

“The Omalas Project are a group of amazing individuals 
that exist off donations to provide free gourmet food 
to our residents. They access volunteers from the 
community and business sector to assist in the cooking 
and distribution of their delicious food. 

“Since The Omalas Project started visiting Fremantle, 
residents are able to access healthy food and 
nourishment that they might have missed out on 
previously,” says Foundation Housing Community 
Engagement Co-ordinator Neal.



United Way WA
Foundation Housing’s long-term partner United Way WA 
continued in FY20/21 to provide support to our tenants  
and residents. 

With funding from Beyond Bank, they co-designed and ran 
the First Steps program, working with tenants who want to 
explore home ownership.

In 2021, they successfully sought funding from Lotterywest 
to deliver the ‘Re-engaging in Community’ program. 
It is designed to assist those who are housed after 
experiencing homelessness but are feeling socially isolated. 
Participants are carefully matched with a volunteer 
buddy based on mutual interests and availability. Several 
Foundation Housing residents engaged in the program 
from across various different lodges. 

“We have had some fantastic feedback from the  
residents that have participated in the REC program.  
It’s been amazing to see visible improvements in their 
wellbeing. Each week they look forward to meeting up 
with their buddies, it is the highlight of their week. The 
outcomes so far have been great and we are looking 
forward to engaging more residents in the program,” says 
Allocations and Lodging Manager, Lisa.

We have had some fantastic feedback from 
the residents that have participated in the 
REC program. It’s been amazing to see visible 
improvements in their wellbeing.

Lisa, Allocations and Lodging Manager
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Staff communication
This focus has been supported by active 
communication by our management with the wider 
team, including all-staff briefings every month, 
frequent project check-ins and updates, and 
recognition through activities like annual staff awards 
to recognise those who actively display our values in 
their work. 

FOUNDATION HOUSING IS A PURPOSE-LED 
ORGANISATION. THIS IS REFLECTED IN OUR 
VALUES, HOW WE RECRUIT AND OPERATE,  
AND OUR CULTURAL FABRIC.

Our new strategy supports that purpose, but in order 
to execute well on the strategy, we are also committed 
to underpinning this with Business Excellence. 

To achieve this we needed staff to buy-in and support 
this new direction.

To create this buy-in, when launching the strategy 
there was a heavy focus on communication and 
internal engagement with our teams, so they were 
clear on the purpose of the strategy and what was 
required to get there.

The results speak for themselves. Our business 
operations have improved during FY20/21, we are 
providing housing options for more West Australians 
than ever before and all of this from a fiscally 
sustainable position.

The following specific activities were undertaken to 
ensure business excellence in FY20/21.

SUPPORTING OUR STRATEGIES  
WITH BUSINESS EXCELLENCE

I would like to express my appreciation and 
thanks to all the staff who made contact 
with me and assisted in my quest for 
accommodation. I am relieved and excited 
to have found somewhere.

Shane, tenant feedback
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Staff have adapted well to these changes, including 
the requirement for better collaboration and more 
formalised decision-making pathways. Housing 
and support teams have wholeheartedly adopted 
the principles of the framework and understand its 
rationale in improving the lives of those we house. As 
well as achieving positive tenancy outcomes it is also 
hoped the framework will provide more guidance and 
empowerment for staff to take action to support our 
tenants and residents.

We also strongly utilised online training to keep our 
teams up to date with necessary skills, which was 
particularly useful during COVID.

This is future proofing our business.

Extending and building new skills
With a number of new programs and projects like 
Elevate and developing our Positive Tenancies 
framework, our people needed to be nimble and 
extend their skills.

A specialised team was set up to support Elevate 
and to ensure swift applications, assessments and 
sign-ups. This was a huge undertaking that required 
flexibility, practicality and sensitivity to the needs of 
the new tenants, as well as the applicants that were 
not successful. It was a new area of business and staff 
responded professionally and flexibly to this new 
business priority. 

The implementation of the Positive Tenancies 
framework has required several changes to work 
practices and the adoption of new models of working 
and decision-making. 

We completed the inspections of your sites in 
Port Hedland today. As a note, the FHL staff were 
exceptional in organising these works! Keys, phone 
numbers, times etc all perfect, everyone expected 
us. Please pass on our thanks.

Stakeholder feedback



Staff continue to be high-performing, committed and 
motivated as, with a track record of industry-leading 
innovation, we continue our work towards the vision of 
ensuring everyone has a home. 

Staff awards
Our most recent employee engagement survey in 
May achieved an 85% overall satisfaction rate with the 
organisation, which is a positive result and our Board 
remains highly active and engaged in supporting new 
directions to serve our vision.

WE CONTINUE TO RECOGNISE STAFF  
EXCELLENCE AT OUR ANNUAL AWARDS,  
WITH WINNERS IN FY20/21 INCLUDING:

The team award excellence:  
Metro Lodging Team

The award for growth:  
Lisa, Lodging &  

Allocations Manager

The award for business excellence: 
Melissa, Income Recovery Officer & 
Christabel, Rents Team Supervisor

The award for positive tenancies: 
Julia,  

Hampton Rd Manager 

The award for caring:  
Gareth, Street to Home  

Co-ordinator 

The award for solutions focused: 
Corey,  

Assets Co-Ordinator 
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Staff Engagement Survey

• Would recommend Foundation Housing as a great place to work
• Are proud to work for Foundation Housing
• See themselves still working at Foundation Housing in two years’ time

92% of staff know how their work 
contributes to the strategic plan

85% have access to learning and 
development to do their job well

86% have confidence  
in the Executive team 

92% say their manager genuinely 
cares about their wellbeing

92% are supported with flexible 
working arrangements

94% believe Foundation Housing 
really allows staff to make  

a positive difference

HOW ENGAGED ARE STAFF

85%

92%

92%

85%

92%

86%

94%
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RAP Working Group
An all-staff survey was conducted to determine the 
level of understanding of a RAP, cultural awareness 
needs and to open expressions of interest for a new 
RAP working group (RWG) to deliver the next stage of 
the RAP. 

Survey highlights showed that most employees had 
been involved in some form of Indigenous engagement 
and that staff wanted to see more: 

•  First Nations focus group engagement
•  First Nations promotion in the workplace and 

increased employment of Aboriginal people 
• Mandatory cultural training
• Support group partnerships
• First Nations suppliers
• RAP/First Nations Communications 

Foundation Housing’s vision for reconciliation is to 
make a meaningful contribution to reconciliation with 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.[1] 

Delivery of the organisation’s first Reconciliation 
Action Plan (Reflect RAP) was completed in 
late 2020, with more than 90 percent of actions 
implemented. In 2021, the process commenced to 
develop a second Innovate RAP in partnership with 
Reconciliation Australia. The new RAP sets out how 
Foundation Housing will work with, provide services 
to, and engage with Aboriginal people. 

Education and cultural awareness have a significant 
role to play in helping to acknowledge past injustice 
and building greater understanding. For this reason, 
a number of RAP actions relate to staff training, 
building culturally appropriate workplace protocols 
and behaviours and indigenous engagement principles. 
Currently, almost 15% percent of Foundation 
Housing tenants identify as Aboriginal so there is a 
responsibility to establish relationships with Aboriginal 
people and ensure this knowledge is reflected in 
policies, practice, structures and communication.

1. Any reference in this document to the term “Aboriginal” and/or “Aboriginal people” is inclusive of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

RECONCILIATION  
ACTION PLAN
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•  Strategic partnerships with Nyamba Buru Yawuru 
(NBY) in Broome and IBN Aboriginal Corporation and 
Bloodwood Tree in South Hedland, providing housing 
opportunities for Aboriginal communities.

•  Development of an Aboriginal advisory committee 
with passionate Noongar and Whadjuk housing 
consultants.

Reconciliation Highlights
SOME KEY RECONCILIATION HIGHLIGHTS  
FROM FY20/21 HAVE BEEN:

•  Establishment of a diverse RAP Working group with 
Aboriginal employee representation 

•  Staff cultural training and Q&A sessions around 
Aboriginal culture and history, protocols, language 
and Acknowledgement of Country

•  Communications including renaming of meeting 
rooms in Noongar, Yawuru and Kariyarra language, 
RAP intranet hub and monthly Aboriginal cultural 
content provided to our various audience groups

•  Reconciliation WA membership providing access 
to events, RAP support and building our Aboriginal 
stakeholder base
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STAFF WELLBEING PROGRAM

In addition, the Cancer Council House offered the 
opportunity for staff to cook a meal for patients as part 
of their corporate volunteering. Staff were provided 
with a Cancer Council menu and spent time shopping 
for ingredients and cooking the meals on site at the 
Milroy Lodge for patients. Staff were overwhelmed 
with the lovely feedback and gratitude that patients 
showed as they shared a meal together. 

The wellness program is well received by staff and 
during FY20/21 had strong attendance at every 
session. 

Corey from Property Services said he was grateful 
for the opportunities provided to staff to focus on 
wellbeing, mental health and safety. 

“It was great to start off the year with some great 
wellness events. In particular, it was very rewarding to 
raise money doing the March Charge with other staff 
members for the Cancer Council. 

“The Wellness Program has not only been a great 
reminder to focus on our wellbeing and health but a 
great opportunity to bond with other staff. I’m looking 
forward to continuing this spirit with the November 
Step into Spring Challenge.”

Our services are only as good as our people. During 
FY20/21 we continued with our Staff Wellness 
program that each month focuses on different aspects 
of physical and mental health which contribute to 
overall staff wellbeing. During Covid-19 lockdown, 
online wellness activities such as yoga and meditation 
continued to run for staff. 

This program is run internally, with external experts 
coming in to support different initiatives. Activities 
that we ran included Mindfulness in May, Eye Health 
and Stress Management in July and October was 
Safety at Work. Ze Winters from TOP Minds ran four 
sessions with staff throughout the year that focused 
on enhancing your mindset, combating stress, creating 
stronger relationships and increasing your energy. 

A morning tea was held for Australia’s Biggest Morning 
Tea during May. Staff were encouraged to bake their 
goodies along with recipes which featured in a special 
cookbook edition called ‘Foundation Flavours.’ Other 
significant days celebrated throughout the year 
included ‘Wear White at Work Day’ for mental illness, 
‘Thinking of You Week’, ‘Lifeline Stress Down Day’, 
‘Jeans for Genes Day’ and more. 
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A major growth initiative during the year was the 
establishment of Elevate by Foundation Housing, which 
included the acquisition of 98 affordable properties 
across the Perth metropolitan region. Using low-cost 
funding available via the National Housing Finance 
and Investment Corporation (NHFIC), Foundation 
Housing purchased new homes to lease to key and 
essential workers, located in central locations with 
proximity to public transport, employment hubs, and 
retail precincts. The model benefited commercially 
through wholesale transactions and by leveraging the 
organisation’s not-for-profit status.

Foundation Housing is actively progressing its first 
Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) Project, 
with development due to commence in the first 
quarter of FY22. The accommodation will consist 
of two purpose built SDA properties in Bassendean. 
Foundation Housing will be partnering with ACTIV 
who will provide care support services to six National 
Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) approved tenants.

During the year, Foundation Housing developed a 
Positive Tenancies Framework to ensure a shared 
understanding of what constitutes a positive tenancy, 
a framework to guide work activities towards the 
achievement of this objective, and a reference 
point to help achieve consistent decision making. 
The framework is aligned to the six domains of 
the Department of Communities’ draft Outcomes 
Framework, namely Safe, Stable, Healthy, Equipped, 
Connected, & Empowered.

YOUR DIRECTORS PRESENT THEIR  
REPORT ON THE COMPANY FOR  
THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021.

Principal activities  
and review of operations
The principal activity of the organisation during the 
year continued to be the supply and management of 
suitable rental accommodation for low to moderate 
income people in Western Australia, whilst focusing on 
strategies to increase positive outcomes for tenants.

Foundation Housing retains its ongoing compliance 
with the Community Housing Regulatory Framework, 
and therefore our continued registration as a Tier 1 
Community Housing Provider.

The housing portfolio has increased slightly over the 
previous 12 months, increasing 4.5% to a total of 2,250 
units of accommodation. Foundation Housing services 
around 3,500 people and families in need across the 
State.

The organisation has responded well to the impacts of 
COVID-19, and ensured that appropriate processes are 
in place to manage the provision of services to tenants. 
Foundation Housing has also implemented flexible 
working arrangements for its employees to ensure 
that the business can respond rapidly to legislative 
requirements, in addition to providing an enhanced 
ongoing working environment. The raft of Government 
subsidies has supported our tenant demographic, 
which has resulted in a minimal impact to the overall 
financial performance of the organisation.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The Directors note that the entity has recognised an 
impairment gain on its land and buildings of $374,882 
during the year ended 30 June 2021. The impairment 
is attributable to improved property market conditions 
in locations where the entities assets reside and does 
not reflect the operational performance of the entity. 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 Foundation Housing 
generated positive cash inflows from operations of 
$9,610,520 and as at 30 June 2021 had net assets in 
excess of $142 million.

Foundation Housing continues to support and 
provide services to various programs across the state, 
including Homes for Carers, 20 Lives 20 Homes, and 
Street to Home, as well as directly funding both a 
Tenant Support and Community Engagement team, 
with service provided across all Foundation Housing 
tenancies. This financial year an operating agreement 
was established with Summer Housing to manage their 
WA portfolio of independent housing for people living 
with a disability.

In March 2020, Foundation Housing launched its 
inaugural tenant scholarship program. The purpose 
of the program is to build the capacity of tenants 
by providing opportunities and financial assistance 
to access further education and development. 
Three scholarships were awarded in FY21, based 
on applicants educational and employment goals, 
commitment to study, and any barriers to studying.

Following a major upgrade to the organisation’s 
finance system in the previous year, the company 
transitioned to an upgraded version of Chintaro, our 
tenant management system. This was followed by the 
implementation of the Maintenance Manager system 
that supports our asset management services. Both 
systems provide enhanced functionality and business 
efficiencies to the organisation.

IN MARCH 2020, FOUNDATION HOUSING 
LAUNCHED ITS INAUGURAL TENANT 
SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM. THE PURPOSE OF 
THE PROGRAM IS TO BUILD THE CAPACITY 
OF TENANTS BY PROVIDING OPPORTUNITIES 
AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO ACCESS 
FURTHER EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT. 
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Directors
Directors have been in office since the start of 
the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated. The following persons were 
Directors in office at any time during or since the end 
of the year:

Mr David Ligovich
Mr Peter Hugh Lee
Ms Elena Jane Macrides
Mr Darren Cooper
Ms Josephine Buontempo
Mr Jeffrey Stiely

Strategic Objectives
The Executive Management Team and Board finalised 
Foundation Housing’s Strategic Plan 2020-2023 in the 
first quarter of FY21.

The revised strategic objectives are encapsulated in 
our refreshed purpose “To improve people’s lives with 
safe and secure housing”.

This is underpinned by our Vision of “A home for 
everyone”, and our Mission “To provide affordable 
housing options for Western Australians on low to 
moderate incomes”.

THE KEY STRATEGIES FROM  
THE STRATEGIC PLAN ARE:

1. Leverage Growth

Increase portfolio size and secure increased revenue 
from non-government sources.

2. Support and Sustain Positive Tenancies

Support tenants to maintain their tenancies and reduce 
negative exits.

THE TWO STRATEGIES  
ARE UNDERPINNED BY:

• Business Excellence

To develop a productive, efficient and high performing 
work environment for all staff.
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MS ELENA MACRIDES

Qualifications
Bachelor of Science, Bachelor of Laws, Masters of 
Business Administration, GAICD

Experience
Elena Macrides has over 20 years’ experience as a 
management consultant and solicitor specialising in 
corporate strategy development and implementation.

Special Responsibilities
Chair of the Governance Committee.
Member of the Finance, Risk and Compliance 
Committee.

MR DARREN COOPER

Qualifications
Bachelor of Business, Masters in Applied Finance, 
GAICD.

Experience 
Darren Cooper has over 25 years’ senior and executive 
management experience within the banking and 
property industries. He is currently Managing Director 
of a private consulting business, Board Chair of The 
Go2 People Ltd (ASX:GO2) and Spectur Ltd (ASX:SP3), 
Non-Executive Director of Netccentric Ltd (ASX:NCL) 
and Board Chair of Ocean Gardens Retirement Village 
Inc.

Special Responsibilities
Deputy Chair of the Board of Directors.
Member of the Development & Asset Committee.

Directors’ Information
MR DAVID LIGOVICH

Qualifications
Fellow Chartered Accountants, Bachelor of Business 
Degree, Diploma in Accounting.

Experience 
David Ligovich has 30 years’ experience in finance 
and business management in leading private and 
not-for-profit businesses both within Australia and 
internationally. David is highly skilled in operational and 
strategic leadership, governance, risk management, 
and Mergers & Acquisitions.

Special Responsibilities
Chair of the Board of Directors
Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee
Member of the Governance Committee

MR PETER LEE

Qualifications
Bachelor of Architecture, Registered Architect, 
Chartered Architect, Life Fellow Australian Institute 
of Architects, Member of the Australian Institute of 
Directors.

Experience
Peter Lee is an Equity Principal of Hassell (since 2004) 
who is responsible for leading a multidisciplinary 
international design team engaged in a diverse range 
of major local, national and international projects. He is 
an Adjunct Professor at Curtin University in Faculty of 
Humanities and on the Boards of FORM, Open House 
Perth and Rottnest Island Authority.

Special Responsibilities
Chair of the Development & Asset Committee.



48 • FOUNDATION HOUSING • ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

MR JEFFREY STIELY

Qualifications
Bachelor of Science, Business

Experience
Jeff Stiely has consulted for over thirty years in 
strategy design and implementation. His clients include 
CEO’s and their executive teams at firms such as 
Wal*Mart, Tiffany & Co, & the Gap in the US; Armani in 
Italy; Aeon Group in Japan, and Westfield in Australia.

Since moving to Perth in 2005, Jeff has expanded 
beyond retail into an array of industries, with a balance 
between for profit and mission-focused organisations. 
Social organisations include Nulsen, Foundation 
Housing, Lotterywest, The Anglican Church, Anglicare, 
St. Bart’s, Wungening Aboriginal Corporation (formally 
AADS), Steiner Schools, and several others.

He is on the national speaking circuit, delivering 
keynotes nationally to CEO’s and boards on the above 
topics. Jeff is active on boards, having chaired two 
companies, including Kitchen Warehouse, a national 
retailer.

Special Responsibilities
Member of the Tenant Services & Engagement 
Committee

MS JOSEPHINE BUONTEMPO

Qualifications
Graduate Certificate in Migration Law & Practice, 
Certificates in Training & Assessment and Social 
Sciences. Associate Fellow of the Australian Institute  
of Management. Member, Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Experience
Jo Buontempo has over 25 years senior and executive 
leadership experience across the profit for purpose, 
government, legal and corporate sectors.

She has developed and managed services in the areas 
of community law, family, children and youth services, 
social housing, disability and education, employment 
and grant making.

Currently, she is Managing Director of a global 
migration law practice in addition to providing 
consulting and training services in corporate 
governance and strategy.

She a member of the International Fellows Alumni 
of the Centre for Philanthropy and Civil Society, City 
University of New York and Member of the Australian 
Broadcasting Corporation Advisory Council.

Special Responsibilities
Chair of the Tenant Services & Engagement Committee. 
Member of the Governance Committee.
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MR JEREMY JACOBS

Qualifications
Member Australian Institute of Company Directors, 
Member CPA Australia, Bachelor of Commerce.

Experience 
Jeremy has extensive experience in the provision  
of commercial management and corporate strategy 
across a diverse range of industries including  
not-for-profit, aged care, consulting, banking, and 
finance. Jeremy also holds board positions within  
the not-for-profit sector.

Special Responsibilities
Company Secretary 
Chief Financial Officer 
Chief Risk Officer
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The number of Directors’ meetings (including Sub-Committees) held during the period and the number of meetings 
attended by each Director is as follows:

DIRECTOR BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FINANCE, RISK &  

COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE

DEVELOPMENT &  
ASSET COMMITTEE

Eligible to 
attend

Meetings 
attended 

Eligible to 
attend

Meetings 
attended 

Eligible to 
attend

Meetings 
attended 

Mr Peter Lee 11 9 - - 11 11 

Ms Elena Macrides 11 11 5 5 - - 

Ms Josephine Buontempo 11 11 - - - - 

Mr David Ligovich (Chair) 11 10 5 5 - - 

Mr Darren Cooper (Deputy Chair) 11 11 - - 11 10 

Mr Jeffrey Stiely 11 11 2 1 - - 

DIRECTOR
TENANCY SERVICES 

& ENGAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 

Eligible to 
attend

Meetings 
attended 

Eligible to 
attend

Meetings 
attended 

Mr Peter Lee - - - - 

Ms Elena Macrides - - 5 4 

Ms Josephine Buontempo 6 6 5 5 

Mr David Ligovich (Chair) - - 5 5 

Mr Darren Cooper (Deputy Chair) - - - - 

Mr Jeffrey Stiely 4 4 - - 
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CONTRIBUTIONS ON WINDING UP

The entity is incorporated under the ACNC Act 2012 and is an entity limited by guarantee. If the entity is wound 
up, the Constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $100 each towards meeting 
any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2021, the total amount in aggregate that members of the 
Company are liable to contribute if the Company is wound up is $1,300 (2020: $1,300).

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year ending 30 June 2021.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 2021 that has significantly affected the 
Company’s operation, the results of those operations, or state of affairs in future financial years.

Director        Director

Perth 
Dated: 30 day of September 2021.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

NOTE 2021 
$

2020 
$

Revenue 2 20,561,795 20,514,043 
Other Income 2 4,821,791 4,387,214 
Depreciation & Amortisation 2 (5,537,742) (5,222,148) 
Impairment (Losses) 6 (125,118) (8,276,500) 
Property Management expenses (8,738,980) (11,132,586) 
Administration Expenses (9,719,486) (9,923,203) 
Profit / (Loss) of Sale of Asset (65,302) (117,047) 
Property Development Expenses (123,244) (383,204) 
Finance Costs (1,149,393) (2,656,981) 
Surplus / (Deficit) Before Income Tax (75,679) (12,810,412) 
Income Tax - - 
Surplus / (Deficit) After Income Tax (75,679) (12,810,412) 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently 
to surplus or deficit
Cash Flow Hedge - 1,275,785
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR  
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE MEMBERS (75,679) (11,534,627)

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction  
with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

ASSETS NOTE 2021 
$

2020 
$

Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents 3 16,051,214 8,229,725 
Trade & Other Receivables 4 1,022,219 806,149 
Other Assets 5 769,348 786,123 
Total Current Assets 17,842,781 9,821,997 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, Plant & Equipment 6 211,850,176 175,651,045 
Intangibles 7 92,217 88,959 
Total Non-Current Assets 211,942,393 175,740,004 
Total Assets 229,785,174 185,562,001 

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
Trade & Other Payables 9 2,216,756 1,897,676 
Contract Liabilities 8 548,486 578,096 
Borrowings 10 166,667 166,667 
Short Term Provisions 11 1,009,384 951,246 
Lease Liability 12 361,587 321,378 
Total Current Liabilities 4,302,880 3,915,063

Non-Current Liabilities 
Borrowings 10 80,867,981 36,566,496 
Long Term Provisions 11 144,601 128,390 
Lease Liability 12 2,125,277 2,531,938 
Make Good Provision 13 91,750 91,750 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 83,229,609 39,318,574
Total Liabilities 87,532,489 43,233,637
Net Assets 142,252,685 142,328,364

Equity 
Retained Surpluses 142,252,685 142,328,364
Total Equity 142,252,685 142,328,364

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

HEDGE RESERVE 
$

RETRAINED SURPLUS 
$

TOTAL 
$

Balance at 1 July 2019 (1,275,785) 155,138,776 153,862,991 
Deficit for the year ended  
30 June 2020 

- (12,810,412) (12,810,412) 

Hedging Reserve 1,275,785 - 1,275,785 
Total Comprehensive Income 1,275,785 (12,810,412) 11,534,627 
Balance at 30 June 2020 - 142,328,364 142,328,364 

Balance at 1 July 2020 - 142,328,364 142,328,364 
Deficit for the year ended  
30 June 2021 

- (75,679) (75,679) 

Total Comprehensive Income - 142,252,685 142,252,685 
Balance at 30 June 2021 - 142,252,685 142,252,685 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTE 2021 
$

2020 
$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Cash Receipts in the Course of Operations 26,728,446 23,263,559 
Interest Received  6,871 24,061 
Operating grants received  1,885,450 2,451,072 
Payments to Suppliers and Employees (17,860,854) (21,022,761) 
Interest Paid (1,149,393) (2,647,224) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 21 9,610,520 2,068,707 

Cash Flow from Investment Activities 
Current Liabilities 
Payment for Purchase of Land & Buildings  (44,494,130) - 
Payments for Purchase of Plant  
& Equipment, Furniture, Fittings & 
Leasehold Improvements 

 (1,411,043) (1,428,432) 

Payments for Intangibles  (23,599) (89,762) 
Net cash outflow for investment activities (45,928,772) (1,518,194) 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
Payment for Lease Liability  (547,894) (527,342) 
Repayment of Borrowings (HA)  (312,365) (166,667) 
Repayment of Borrowings (NAB)  - (34,300,000) 
Proceeds from Borrowings (NHFIC)  45,000,000 35,000,000 
Net cash inflow for financing activities 44,139,741 5,991 
Net Increase(decrease) in cash  
and cash equivalents 

7,821,489 556,505 

Cash & Cash at the beginning  
of the financial year 

8,229,725 7,673,220

Cash & Cash at the end  
of the financial year 3 16,051,214 8,229,725 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial report is for Foundation Housing Limited as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the registered office is 297 Vincent Street, Leederville Western Australia 6007. Foundation 
Housing Limited is a company limited by guarantee.

Basis of Preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. 
The Company is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have 
been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest dollar.

Going Concern

As at 30 June 2021 the Directors are satisfied the Company is a going concern and that the Company has complied 
with all covenants related to the borrowing facilities.

Accounting Policies

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted.

a) Revenue Recognition

Rental revenue represents revenue earned when the service has been provided. Revenue from the rendering of a 
service is recognised upon the delivering of a service to the customers.

Grant income arising from an agreement which contains enforceable and sufficiently specific performance 
obligations is recognised when control of each performance obligation is satisfied. This generally the case for the 
monies received for the grant programs relating to the Company, of which the performance obligations are varied 
based on the agreement.

Within grant agreements there may be some performance obligations where control transfers at a point in time 
and others which continues transfer of control over the life of the contract. If control is transferred over time, then 
revenue will be recognised based on cost or time incurred of which best reflects the transfer of control.

Foundation Housing receives non-reciprocal contributions of assets from the Government for zero or nominal value. 
These assets are recognised at fair value on the date of acquisition in the Statement of Financial Position with a 
corresponding amount of income recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of 
disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

a) Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial assets is the 
rate inherent in the instrument.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

b) Unexpected Grants / Unused Capital Funds

The contract assets primarily relate to the Company’s rights to consideration for work completed mainly on 
government grants or contributions. The contract liabilities relate to advanced consideration received from 
government, for which revenue is recognised either as expended or on completion of specific project funds.

The Company receives grant and capital monies to fund projects either for contracted periods of time or for 
specific projects irrespective of the period of time required to complete those projects. It is the policy of the 
Company to treat the monies as unexpended grants and unused capital funds in the Statement of Financial Position 
where the Company is contractually obliged to provide the services in a subsequent financial period to when the 
funds are received or, in the case of specific project funds, where the related project work has not been completed.

c) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement 
of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows.

d) Income Tax

No provision for income tax has been raised as the Company is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within short term 
borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

f) Financial Instruments

Recognition and Initial Measurement

Financial Instruments, incorporating Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, are recognised when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade date accounting is adopted for Financial Assets that are delivered within timeframes established by 
marketplace convention.

Financial Instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs where the instruments are classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments classified as fair value through profit 
or loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Financial Instruments are classified and measured as set out 
below.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks 
and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either 
discharged, cancelled or expire.

The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement

(i) Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Financial Assets at amortised cost are non-derivative Financial Assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

(ii) Financial Liabilities

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective rate method.

Impairment

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a Financial Instrument has 
been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income. Impairment of trade receivables is based on expected credit losses from events that are possible within 12 
months.

g) Borrowing Costs

Are amortised over the period of the loan.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

h) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to 
the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over it recoverable amount is expensed to the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s ability to generate 
net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits, 
value in use is depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset class, the entity estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the class of assets belong. Non-financial assets other than goodwill 
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of the reporting period.

The Company has conducted external independent valuations of the Land and Buildings portfolio held as security 
for their loan facilities on their highest and best use basis ignoring any restrictive covenant placed on the properties 
by the Housing Authority. There is a formal legal agreement between the lending Financier and the Housing 
Authority which allows the Financier to realise the value of these assets with the restrictive covenant removed if 
necessary.

These valuations are used as a base to evaluate the individual values of the Land and Buildings owned by the 
Organisation each year

i) Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of Property, Plant, and Equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. The carrying amount of an item of property, plant, and equipment shall be derecognised 
when disposed of or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gains or losses shall be 
recognised in the profit and loss.

Property

Freehold Land and Buildings are measured on the cost basis and where applicable less depreciation and impairment 
losses.

Freehold Land and Buildings that have been contributed at no cost, or for nominal cost, are valued at the fair value 
of the asset at the date it is acquired.

Plant and Equipment

Plant and Equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of depreciated replacement cost.

Plant and Equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are valued at the fair value of the 
asset at the date it is acquired.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

i) Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation

Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the entity from the time the asset is 
held ready for use. Leasehold Improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the 
lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Freehold Buildings 2.50%
Motor Vehicles 15.00%
Property Plant and Equipment 10.00%
Property Leasehold Improvements 10.00% (Bathrooms, kitchens, flooring etc)
Property Leasehold Improvements 6.67% (Roofs, electrical, plumbing etc)
Property Furniture and Fittings 10.00%
Office Plant and Equipment 10.00%
Office Furniture and Fittings 10.00%
Office Leasehold Improvements 20.00%
Computer Equipment 33.33%

Service Concession Arrangements

The Company recognises an intangible asset arising from a service concession arrangement when it has the right to 
charge for usage of the concession facility. An intangible asset received as a consideration for operating the facility 
is calculated as the present value of future lease payments plus the fair value of the property, plant and equipment 
acquired. Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset is measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

j) Intangibles

Intangibles are measured on the cost basis less amortisation and impairment losses.

IT Development and Software

Costs incurred acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to future period financial benefits through 
revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software. Costs capitalised include external direct costs 
of materials and service. IT development costs include only these costs directly attributable to the development 
phase and are only recognised following completion of technical feasibility and where the Company has an intention 
and ability to use the asset.

Software costs are assessed annually for impairment.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over their useful lives to the entity from the time the asset is held 
ready for use. The amortisation rate used is 20%.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

k) Leases

Under AASB 16, the company recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right of use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct costs incurred.

The right of use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to 
the earlier of the end of useful life of the right of use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives 
of the right of use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the 
right of use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses if any and adjusted for certain remeasurements of 
the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if not readily available, determined 
the group’s borrowing rate. Generally, the group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there 
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the group’s 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or if the group changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is 
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right of use asset or is 
recorded in the profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right of use asset has been reduced to nil.

Costs associated with the short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as an expense in the 
profit or loss.

l) Employee Benefits

Wages and Salaries and Annual Leave

The Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees is provided for in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits 
payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash out-flows to 
be made for those benefits. Contributions are made by the Company to employees’ superannuation funds and are 
charged as expenses when incurred.

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees, up to the end of the reporting period. Consideration is given to expect 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using the Australian corporate bond discount rate curve published by Millman with terms to maturity 
and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash flows.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

m) Trade and Other Payables

The financial liability for Trade and Other Payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period for goods and services received by the company during the reporting period which remain unpaid. The 
balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the 
liability.

n) Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

o) Trade and Other Receivables

Current Trade Receivables are non-interest bearing. Non-tenant debtors are generally on 30 day terms. Tenant 
debtors terms are payment on invoice date.

p) Economic Dependence

Foundation Housing Limited is dependent on the Housing Authority for the majority of its houses used to generate 
revenue and operate the business. At the date of this report the Board of Directors has no reason to believe the 
Housing Authority will not continue to support Foundation Housing Limited.

q) Contributed Equity

The Company is incorporated under the ACNC Act 2012 and is limited by guarantee and has no paid up capital.

r) Borrowings

Loans and Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date, the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current.

s) Fair Value Measurements and Valuation Processes

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, 
the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place 
either: in the principle market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interest. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on 
its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

t) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report on historical knowledge and 
best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the company.

Estimation of Useful Lives of Assets

The Company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment, and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result 
of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the 
useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been 
abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Leases

The Company determines whether or not a contract contains a lease, and establishes whether or not it is 
reasonably certain that an extension option will be exercised, or reasonably certain that a termination option will be 
exercised, and making sure variable payments are truly variable.

Also to ensure determining whether the lease should be classified as an operating of finance lease.

When the Company has the option to extend a lease, management uses its judgement to determine whether or not 
an option would be reasonably certain to be exercised. Management considers all facts and circumstances including 
their past practice and any cost that will be incurred to change the asset if an option to extend is not taken, to help 
them determine the lease term

Impairment of Trade Receivables

Included in accounts receivable is an impairment of Trade Receivables of $190,710 (2020: $164,414). This is based 
on the expected collectability of the debt and the age of the related debts. Tenant receivables are fully provided as 
bad debts other than that portion covered by a security bond.

Provision for Non-Current Employee Entitlements

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In calculating the present 
value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based 
on historical data.

Fair Value

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to 
the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over it recoverable amount is expensed to the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

t) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Continued)

Classification of land and buildings

The Company has classified Land and Buildings as Property, Plant and Equipment as it has been assessed that these 
assets are held to meet service delivery objectives rather than earn rental or for capital appreciation. As a result of 
this judgement and the Company being a not-for-profit entity, Land and Buildings have been classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment rather than Investment Property.

The Company has a 50 year lease for the Foyer Land and Buildings. Whilst this is a peppercorn lease from the 
Housing Authority, this arrangement has not been assessed as being a Service Concession Arrangement due to the 
price setting arrangements being outside of the Community Housing Agreement and with parties other than the 
Housing Authority. The amounts recognised reflect the construction cost of the asset.

Treatment of Peppercorn Leased Properties

The Company has reviewed the accounting treatment of their “peppercorn” leased properties owned by the 
Housing Authority.

The Company has a right (licence) to charge users of these properties and believe many of the contracts are 
“service concession arrangements” within the scope of AASB Interpretation 12.

Under AASB Interpretation 12, service concession arrangements potentially should be recognised as intangible 
assets at the time of the arrangement, representing the future benefits expected to flow to the entity.

On the date that the Company entered into the service concession arrangements only the provision of service 
was required and not construction or upgrade of the properties. As such the service concession arrangements are 
considered executory contracts and therefore no intangible asset would be recognised.

Impairment of non-current assets

The entity assesses impairment of non-current assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to 
the entity and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. During the period verification of property, plant 
& equipment as well as intangibles is undertaken and where required assets will be derecognised upon disposal or 
where there is no future economic benefit to Foundation Housing.

100% of Land & Buildings are valued by external parties every 3 years. Any gains or losses are recognised and 
adjusted at each reporting date.

u) Joint Ventures – Joint Controlled Assets

The proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities and expenses of a Joint Venture activity have been incorporated 
in the financial statements under the appropriate headings.
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NOTE 2021 
$

2020 
$

2 (a) Revenue and Other Income 
Rental Revenue 20,561,795 20,514,043 
Grant Income  2,379,502 2,383,505 
Housing Authority Recovery  364,556 (763,368) 
Other Income 2,077,733 2,767,077 

25,383,586 24,901,257 
Disaggregation of Revenue

The disaggregation of revenue from contracts  
with customers is as follows:
Geographical Regions Western Australia 20,561,795 20,514,043

2 (b) Expenses
Operating activities

Impairment Losses – Trade receivables  218,268 280,264 
Rental Expense on Operating Leases  6,925 6,925 
Depreciation and Amortisation 6 5,144,910 4,820,189 
Depreciation ROU Assets 6 392,833 401,959 
Impairment Losses – PPE 6 125,118 8,276,500 
Maintenance and Supplies for Tenancies  3,292,614 5,329,496 
Rates & Taxes – Tenancies  2,624,968 2,671,025 
Salary and On Costs  7,048,289 7,142,718 
Superannuation Expense  628,579 620,840 
Property Development expenses 123,244 383,204 
Finance Costs 1,149,393 2,656,981 
Loss on Sale of Asset 65,302 117,047 
Offices, Premises & Equipment 1,057,592 1,013,734 
Direct Housing Costs 2,596,204 2,844,877 
Other Operating Costs 985,026 1,145,910 

25,459,265 37,711,669 
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2021 
$

2020 
$

3. Current Assets – Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash in Bank 11,427,228 4,230,968 
Petty Cash  1,222 2,000 
Term Deposits  398,648 398,648 
Restricted Cash – Hedland 125 4,224,116 3,598,108 

16,051,214 8,229,725 
Reconciliation of Cash 

Cash at end of the financial year as shown in the  
Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to items  
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 16,051,214 8,229,725 
Balance as per statement of cash flows 16,051,214 8,229,725 

2021 
$

2020 
$

4. Current Assets – Trade and Other Receivables
Trade Receivables 609,061 616,002 
Less: Provision for Impairment  (190,710) (164,414) 
GST Receivables  79,510 84,238 
Grant Receivables 524,357 270,324 

1,022,219 806,149 

Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Non-tenant debtors are generally on 30 day terms.  
Tenant debtors terms are payment on invoice date.

Tenant receivables are fully provided as bad debts other than that portion covered by a security bond.

Provision for impairment at beginning of year 164,414 205,666 
Amounts written off (191,973) (321,515) 
Charge for year 218,269 280,263 
Provision for impairment at end of year 190,710 164,414 

2021 
$

2020 
$

5. Current Assets – Other Assets
Accrued Income (82,479) 435 
Prepayments  851,827 785,688 

769,348 786,123 
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2021 
$

2020 
$

6. Non Current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment
Land – at cost 90,369,206 86,560,433 

Buildings – at cost 169,293,961 132,626,557 
Accumulated Depreciation (25,841,839) (22,275,519) 
Impairment (31,830,031) (32,204,913) 

111,622,091 78,146,125 

Office: P&E, F&F and Leasehold Improvements – at cost 1,420,119 1,498,720 
Accumulated Depreciation (1,210,949) (1,076,962) 

209,170 421,758 

Motor Vehicles – at cost 52,400 52,400 
Accumulated Depreciation (34,279) (29,358) 

18,121 23,042 

Property: Plant & Equipment – at cost 1,130,347 1,087,822 
Accumulated Depreciation (728,689) (655,135) 

401,658 432,687 

Property: Furniture & Fittings – at cost 2,137,640 2,057,508 
Accumulated Depreciation (1,571,591) (1,466,276) 

566,049 591,232 

Leasehold Property: Refurbishment & Improvements – at cost 18,736,480 17,675,631 
Accumulated Depreciation (12,264,152) (10,787,367) 

6,472,328 6,888,265 

Computer Equipment – at cost 168,546 130,114 
Accumulated Depreciation (74,723) (32,016) 

93,823 98,099 

ROU Office Lease 2,695,196 2,694,039 
Accumulated Depreciation (696,130) (352,628) 

1,999,066 2,341,411 

ROU Office Equipment 197,326 197,326 
Accumulated Depreciation (98,663) (49,332) 

98,663 147,994 

Total Non – Current Assets – Property, Plant & Equipment 211,850,175 175,651,045 

Impairment Losses – Ref Note 2

During 2020-21 the Company tested a selection of properties for impairment and recognised an impairment loss 
of $125,118. This was made up of Land & Buildings improvement of $374,882, less $500,000 for impaired assets 
relating to Hampton Road.
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6. Non Current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

Movement in carrying amounts 

Movement in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning  
and the end of current financial year: 

Land Buildings Office P&E, 
F&F, ROU  

& Leasehold 
Improvement

Property 
Plant & 
Equipt  

Property 
Furniture  
& Fittings  

L/hold 
Prop 

refurbish  
& improvts 

Motor 
Vehicle 

Comp & 
Printers 

Total 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Carrying 
amount at 
beginning  
of year

86,560,433 78,146,125 2,911,164 432,687 591,232 6,888,264 23,042 98,098 175,651,045 

Additions 3,808,773 36,687,170 2,165 47,215 119,267 1,202,806 - 38,431 41,905,827 

ROU 
Adjustment

- - 1,157 - - - - - 1,157 

Impairment 
(Losses) / 
reversals

- 374,882 - - - (500,000) - - (125,118) 

Disposals - (18,517) (107) - - (46,678) - - (65,302) 

Depn Expense - (3,567,569) (607,480) (78,244) (144,449) (1,072,065) (4,921) (42,706) (5,517,434) 

Carrying 
amount at 
end of year

90,369,206 111,622,091 2,306,899 401,658 566,050 6,472,327 18,121 93,823 211,850,175 
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6. Non Current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

Included in the above are the ROU Assets covering the following:

 

LEEDERVILLE  
OFFICE  

$

JOONDALUP  
OFFICE  

$

SOUTH 
HEDLAND 

OFFICE  
$

RICOH  
EQUIPMENT  

$

TOTAL  
$

Opening Balance  
1 July 2020 

2,023,958 223,305 94,148 147,994 2,489,405 

Adjustment - - 19,988 - 19,988 
Depreciation (289,137) (44,661) (28,534) (49,332) (411,664) 
Total Carrying 
Amount 1,734,821 178,644 85,602 98,662 2,097,729 

The Company has entered into various joint venture arrangements with the Housing Authority, whereby the 
Company owns a proportion of land and buildings subject to these arrangements. The underlying land and buildings 
are subject to various caveats lodged against the titles. The arrangements limit the use and disposal rights of the 
properties.

Refer to Note 10 for information on non-current assets pledged as security by the Company.

Concessionary Lease – Foyer

The Company has the right to use the Land & Buildings for the purpose of its business to supply accommodation to 
low income people in Western Australia, and focusing on strategies for positive outcomes for the tenants. The term 
of the lease is for 50 years, and is recognised on the Statement of Financial Position at cost.

2021 
$

2020 
$

7. Non Current Assets – Intangible Assets
Software – at Cost 334,931 311,332 
Accumulated Amortisation (242,714) (222,373) 
Net Carrying Amount 92,217 88,959 
TOTAL NON CURRENT INTANGIBLES 92,217 88,959 
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2021 
$

2020 
$

9. Current Liabilities – Trade & Other Payables
Trade Creditors 889,862 835,834 
Accrued Expenses 883,647 727,880 
Tenant Bonds / key Deposits 159,363 137,992 
Other Current Payables 283,883 195,970 

2,216,756 1,897,676 
 

2021 
$

2020 
$

10. Current & Non Current – Financial Liabilities
Current 
HA Loans Payable 166,667 166,667 

166,667 166,667 
Non-Current Secured Liabilities – Borrowings 
Mortgage Loans Payable 79,709,648 34,844,879 
HA Loans Payable 1,158,333 1,721,617 

80,867,981 36,566,496 
Total Secured Liabilities  
(Current & Non Current) – Borrowings 81,034,981 36,733,163 

The mortgage loans payable has been adjusted by the Legal fees associated with new borrowings during the year 
by $157,500. 

Mortgage loans are secured by the issuance of relevant government backed bonds over the Company’s share  
of freehold land and buildings owned.

The mortgage loan facility with the National Housing Finance Investment Corporation, based on a fixed term 10 year 
loan at a fixed interest rate of 2.07% $35M & 2.39% $45M. The Housing Authority loan is an unsecured, interest free 
loan for a 6 year term. FHL is required to repay $1,650,000 through refurbishment works on properties owned by 
the lender and delivery of new “growth” to their housing portfolio, and $1,000,000 through cash repayments.
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2021 
$

2020 
$

10. Current & Non Current – Financial Liabilities (Continued)
Loan Facilities 
Mortgage Loan Facilities 82,650,000 37,650,000 
Amount utilised (80,867,981) (36,721,617) 

1,782,019 928,383 

 
2021 

$
2020 

$

Housing Authority Loan Reconciliation
Loan Facility Carried Forward 1,888,284 984,016 
Amount settled through delivery of works (250,919) -
Cash Repayment (312,365) (166,667) 
Re-instatement - 1,070,935
Outstanding with Housing Authority 1,325,000 1,888,284
 

The major facilities are summarised as follows:

The total loan facilities unused $1,782,019 (2020: $928,383) is related to a fixed interest mortgage with the National 
Housing Finance and Investment Corporation, and an interest free loan with the Housing Authority.

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for borrowings are:

Land and Buildings 183,683,780 146,238,530
Total Assets Pledged As Security 183,683,780 146,238,530
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2021 
$

2020 
$

11. Current & Non Current Liabilities – Employee Benefits
Current Employee Entitlements 
Opening Balance 951,246 773,889 
Additional Provision Raised 584,895 576,538 
Amounts Used (526,757) (399,181) 
TOTAL CURRENT 1,009,384 951,246 

Non-Current Employee Entitlements
Opening Balance 128,390 139,618 
Additional Provision Raised 16,211 (11,228) 
Amounts Used - - 
TOTAL NON CURRENT 144,601 128,390 
TOTAL PROVISIONS 1,153,985 1,079,636 
Number of employees at year end 69 76 

2021 
$

2020 
$

12. Current & Non- Current Liabilities – Lease Liabilities
Current – Lease Liabilities
Joondalup Office 41,490 37,246 
Leederville Office 251,141 223,877 
South Hedland Office 21,272 15,481 
RICOH 47,684 44,774 
TOTAL CURRENT 361,587 321,378 

Non-Current – Lease Liabilities 
Joondalup Office 169,770 215,504 
Leederville Office 1,847,214 2,131,640 
South Hedland Office 51,109 77,016 
RICOH 57,184 107,778 
TOTAL NON – CURRENT 2,125,277 2,531,938 
TOTAL LEASE LIABILITY 2,486,864 2,853,316 
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2021 
$

2020 
$

13. Current & Non- Current Liabilities – Make Good Provision
Current – Make Good Provision
Offices & Equipment 91,750 91,750
TOTAL MAKE GOOD PROVISION 91,750 91,750

14. Equity

The Company is incorporated under the ACNC Act 2012 and is Ltd by guarantee and has no paid up capital.  
The member’s guarantee is limited to $100. Members of the Company will be any person, corporations or 
organisations who have agreed in writing to support the objects specified in the Constitution and whom the 
Directors have agreed to admit to membership.

At general meetings each member is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member has  
one vote on a show of hands.

At 30 June 2021 the number of members was 13 (2020:13).

2021 
$

2020 
$

15. Key Management Personnel Compensation
Total compensation 866,708 907,562

16. Contingent Liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities at reporting date.

17. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Company in future years.

18. Company Details

The Company’s registered office and principal place of business is 297 Vincent Street, Leederville WA 6007.
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19. Related Party Transactions

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and with conditions no more favourable  
than those available to other persons.

During the year there has been costs incurred with Kingston Development, which relates to a Development 
Committee Member 2021: $12,100. $5,500 is work relating to the Ley St Project, with the remaining $6,600  
relating to Committee Member Fees. (2020: $Nil). There is $nil payable at 30 June 2021 (2020: $nil).

20. Commitments

2021 
$

2020 
$

Operating Lease 2021 
Payable – minimum lease payment 
- not later than 12 months 27,151 540,362 
- between 12 months and 5 years - 922,351 

27,151 1,462,713 

Construction Contracts

The Carmen Way Project is to provide 2 special disability accommodation.

2021 
$

2020 
$

Payable 
- not later than 12 months 1,581,500 -

1,581,500 -
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21. Reconciliation of Deficit to Operating Cash Flow Activities

2021 
$

2020 
$

Cash Flow Information
(i) Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
with Deficit from Ordinary Activities

Deficit from ordinary activities (75,679) (12,810,412)
Non cash flows in surplus
Provision for Bad Debts 26,295 (41,251) 
Bad debts written off 191,973 321,515 
Depreciation and amortisation 5,162,895 5,231,853 
Impairment (125,118) 8,276,500 
Net Profit / (Loss) on disposal on non-current assets (65,302) (117,045) 
Interest on Office Leases 185,149 205,964 

Change in assets and liabilities 
Increase in trade and other receivables (50,025) (49,759) 
(Increase)/decrease in GST receivables 4,705,297 21,574 
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors 54,028 (55,449) 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 66,139 (173,290) 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred grant revenue (348,354) 67,566 
Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and other payables (87,835) (409,948) 
(Increase)/decrease in accrued income 82,915 31,210 
Increase/(decrease) in rental income in advance 64,712 25,048 
Increase in provision for employee entitlements 74,349 166,129
Net cash inflows from Operating Activities 9,610,520 2,068,707

Non-Cash Investments Activities

During the year the entity did not receive any contributions of Land & Buildings from a Government agency 
(2020: Nil).
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DIRECTORS’  
DECLARATION

The Directors of Foundation Housing Limited declare that:

•  The financial statements, comprising the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, 
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Changes in Equity, and accompanying 
notes, are in accordance with the ACNC Act 2012 and:

–  comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the ACNC 
Regulations 2013; and

–  give a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance  
for the year ended on that date.

•  In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the entity will be able to pay its debts  
as and when they become due and payable.

On behalf of the Directors

Director

Signed at Perth this 30 day of September 2021
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